UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED SEAEES OF AMERICA,
v. Criminal Action No. 03-348
JACK DAVIS,

Defendant.

T S et gt gt gt et St

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

On Novenber 1, 2004, Jack Davis was convicted after
trial of a narcotics conspiracy,, possession of marijuana,
possession with intent to distribute phencyclidine (“pcp~
firearm possession during a drug trafficking offense, and
unl awful distribution of cocaine.* Davis noved for judgme
acquittal, challenging the sufficiency of evidence and tr
propriety of pretrial rulings allow ng the adm ssion of ¢

evi dence. He al so nmoved for a new trial alleging a viola

* The superseding indictnment on which the defendant
tried charged six offenses: conspiracy between 1993 and 2
possess with intent to distribute cocaine, Crack cocaine,
and marijuana, in violation of 21 U S.C. s 846 (Count ne
possession of marijuana, in violation of 21 US C s 844
(Count Two); possession with intent to distribute PCP, in
violation of 21 U S C § 841(a)(1)and (b)(1)(C (Count T
using, carrying, and possessing a firearmduring a drug
traffickina offense, in violation of 18 U S.C. § 924 (c)(
(Count Four); unlawful possession Of a firearmw th an
obliterated serial number, in violation of 18 U.S.C. s 92
( Count F|ve) and unl awf ul distribution of cocaine, 21 U,
§ 841(a) | and (b) (1) (© (Count 6). The defendant was a

of Count' Flve.
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the Jencks Act, 18 U S.C. s 3500 (2000), and for

permtting himto interview the jurors.*
The defendant's notion for judgnent of acquittal
deni ed.

The evidence when viewed in the |ight nost

a court order

will be

favorable to

t he government permtted a reasonable jury to find the essential

el enents, of a conspiracy to distribute PCP,
was not required to establish that the charged conspiracy
during the exact dates nentioned in the indictment,.
agent's trial
his testimony at the pretrial suppression hearing or with
agent's trial testinony,
of the pre-trial suppression nmotion nor a judgnent of acq
is warranted. Moreover,

defendant's acquitted conduct as evidence of conduct in

furtherance of the conspiracy and not as character evidenaq

No willful or negligent Jencks violation that warrant

trial has been established. Because no judicial inquiry i

permtted into the jury's deliberative process,

def endant has failed to show good cause or reasonabl e groy

interviewing j ury menbers,

the jurors will be denied.

2

Al t hough the docket indicates that the defendant’s
was filed on Novenmber 12, 2004, a date sta
originallnmtion shows that it was filed on Novenber
within the seven-day tine period all owed under Federa
Criminal 'Procedure 33(b)(2) and 45(a).
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BACKGROUND

Davis Was driving a Lincoln Navigator on Decenber 17, | 2001.
FBI Special Agents Kyle Ful mer and Robert Lockhart stoppe¢ Davis
for failing to cone to a conplete stop at a stop sign. (lot. Tr.
3/18/04 at 34, 38-45.) The agents searched the Navigator |and
f ound inlit marij uana, PCP, and a weapon. Before trial, | avis
noved to| suppress the evidence recovered during the traffr/c stop,
allegingl that the stop was illegal and that the fruits of |the
resulting search and seizure should be suppressed. (Mt. |Tz.
3/18/04 at 166.) The court credited Fulner's testinony ttat
Davis’ vehicle failed to come to a full stop at a stop sic¢|a,
found that the agents had conducted a lawful traffic stop, and
deni ed the defendant's notion. (Mt. Tr. 3/18/04 at 173-4.) At
trial, w#en Ful mer was questioned about the traffic stop, Ful mer
first st%ted that the defendant stopped his vehicle befor | trying
to nmake ; U-turn. Wen asked to clarify, Fulner explaine | that
he calle@ arolling stop a stop, even though it is not alull
stop. Fulmer maintained that because the defendant canme 0 only
arolling stop and not a full stop, the defendant had cormitted a
traffic yiolation. (Trial Tr. 10/21/04 a.m at 114-16.)

Befére trial, Davis also filed a notion in linine set|king to

|
restrict |the introduction of any evidence inplicating himjin the

murder of David Scott on the ground that Davis had been a¢quitted
|

of that $urder char ge. (Corrected Mot. in Limne [#180].: The
|
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conspiracy count alleged that in furtherance of

t he conspiracy,

Davis and his co-conspirators used firearns and commtted acts of

vi ol ence, including nurder

agai nst anyone who di srupted or

threatened to disrupt the conspiracy or in retaliation fo
I mot i on

violence; commtted agai nst menbers of the conspiracy.

inlimng was denied on the ground that the nurder

intertwinedWith, and direct evidence of, the crinmes being
char ged.

At trial, the governnment called as wtnesses Fulmer,
Lockhart, forner FBlI police officer Warren Hlls, and a nu

the defendant's all eged co-conspirators and cooperating wi

i ncl uding M chael Henderson, Rodney Robertson, Robert cCrav

Paul Tyler, Thomas Davis, Keith Harrison, Marcus Robertsor

Cedric Conner. The testinony reveal ed that Thomas Davis

i ntroduced the defendant to a wonman known as "Pinky," that

def endant stored PCP and Thomas DpavisStored crack cocai ne

Pinky's house, that both Davises sold these drugs from the

that the defendant supplied Pinky with "dippers" of PCP

Tr. 10/19%/04 p.m at 101-05; Trial Tr. 10/20/04 a.m at 9.

Pinky was a willing participant in this arrangenent. (Tri

10/19/04 p.m at 104.) During an interval from 1993 to 1¢

def endant and his twin brother Janes Davis were al so invol
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selling marijuana with Keith Harrison.® (Trial Tr.

at 78.) During roughly the sane tinme, the defendant agree¢
supply Thomas Davis with drugs to sell Tr. 1

(Trial 10/18/0

at 78, 94-96), the defendant sold Thomas Davis' cocaine (T

16/19/04 p.m. at 104, Trial Tr.

def endant and hi s brother James sold either marijuana or ¢

cocaine.: (Trial Tr. 10/20/04 a.m at 81-85.)

Henderson testified that the defendant shot and kille

known as "Head." (Trial Tr. 10/7/04 p.m at 13-15.) Har

said the murder occurred in 1996. (Trial Tr.

at 83.) ZHenderson and Thomas Davis testified that Head we

killed because Head robbed the defendant's brother Janes

def endant wanted revenge. (Trial Tr.

Trial Tr; 10/19/04 p.m at 86-87.) Thonmas Davis and Richsz

said that the defendant was acquitted of Head' s nurder.

Tr. 10/1?/04 p.m at 86-87; Trial Tr. 10/21/04 a.m at 66.

Hills testified that the defendant visited the FBI fil
of fi ce on Decenber 18, 2001 and asked for the return of th

vehicle,, earrings and belt that the agents had confiscated

* The defendant suggests that Keith Harrison ceontrad

this testinony by later testifying that "he did not start
with [the defendant and Janes Davis] until |ate 2000, ear i
mhlch was his FIRST time deal|ng with [then]." (Def.’s Re

10/13/04 a.m.

10/13/04 a. m

dto
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'S Combined Qpp'n to Def.' s Omibus Mt. for J. of Acq
for New Trial, and for . Oder Permtting Def.
Jurors (“Def. ' Reply") at 2.) That latter testinony,
referredfto his cocalne, and not marijuana,
Tr. 10/13/04 p.m at 49-50.)
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his arrest after being stopped for naking a U-turn. (Tria

10/18/04p. M at 24-25, 29, 33.) Hlls said the defendant

mentioneH owning a gun. (1d. at 25, 36-38.) However, Hi{
deni ed t#o details Fulmer apparently wote in his sunmary

interviey of HIls, nanely, that the defendant described t

turn as Fillegal" and the agents had taken a gun fromthe

vehicle.i(

Id. at 36-38.) Hlls mentioned that he had pre

handwrit%en statement detailing the defendant's visit to t
. | . :
office and had given the statenent to an agent whomH |1ls

|
identify by nane.

not (Trial Tr. 10/18/C4 p.m at 34.) 1

production of a ¢

L

bench conference, defense counsel sought

HIls's Written statenent, and stated that the Assistant

St at es AFtorney(“AUSA”)did not recall having received a

\ o
(Id. at 36.) In confirmng that, the AUSA stated that he
try to d%termine if such a statement existed, and if so, W

make Hilis avai l abl e for further cross-exam nation. (Id.

)
During the deliberations, the jury sent out a note

"requesttingq a definition of the common terns for

weight/qﬁantities of powdered and crack cocai ne, PCP, mari

The court's witten n

(Trial Tﬁ. 10/27/04 a.m at 14-15.)

read: “Deéarjurors, | 'amnot certain that know exactly v

are asking for. May | ask you to give ne a bit nore deta
b

your question so that | may try to answer you." (Trial T

10/27/04!a.nn at 18-19.) The jury responded the follow ng:

| Tr.
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norning with another note stating that they "would |ike weights
in grans of street terms such as 62s, 31s, eightballs, di bags,
quarters, etcetera, as a definition of these ternms in grams."
(Trial Tr. 10/28/04a.m at 2-3.) The court's witten re%ponse
was:  "Dear jurors, Thank you for clarifying yesterday's question
concerning definitions of weights . . . . You nust rely entirely
upon you? menory of'the testinony and ot her evidence, and | your

not es if$you t ook any, concerning definitions of weights.'t (Id.

at 4-5.)' Both parties agreed that this answer was satisfactory.
(Id. at 5.) The jury later sent out a note asking whether it
nmust fin@ all elements of Count Five before it could find the

defendant; guilty on that count. (See Trial Tr. 11/1/04 p..m

at 5.) Defense counsel argued that the court should respdnd that
finding a1l elenments on a1l counts was necessary. The court
i nstead responded that to convict on Count Five, the jury nust
find allielements of that count, but noted the defendant
objectio# (Trial Tr. 11/1/04 p.m at 23.)

The}defendant filed an omi bus post-trial notion. He seeks
a judgment of acquittal arguing that the governnent presented
insufficient evi dence to establish a conspiracy during the tines

|

al l eged, 'and arguing that the court should reconsider and reverse

its rulings denying the suppression notion and allow ng tHe

governme#t to present evidence of the defendant's acquitted

conduct., He also seeks a new trial, claimng that the government
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failed to provide Hlls's Jencks statement. The defendant

al so

asks for, a court order permtting himto interviewthe jurors to

determ ne whether the jurors relied on extra-record data

the counts be

fo

whet her the jurors found all elenents of all

finding the defendant guilty. (pef.”s Am Omibus Mt.

Acquittal, Mt. for New Trial, Mdt. for C. O der and

_J .

nd
fore

r J. of

Incorporgted Mem of Law in Supp. (“Def.”s Am Mdt.") at |1, 8-
14.)
DI SCUSSI ON

MOT ON FOR JUDGVENT OF' ACQUI TTAL

Und|r Rule 29(c) of the Federal Rules of Crininal Prclcedure,
a defend nt nmay renew a notion for judgment of acquittal ther a
guilty v| rdiet has been returned. Fed. R CGim P. 29(c) A
judgnent | of acquittal is warranted "only when there is no
evi dence upon which, a reasonable mnd mght find guilt be:yond a
reasonab e doubt." United States v. Hernandez, 780 r.2d113, 120
(D.C. G 1986). The court "nust view the evidence in tlae |ight
nost fav arable to the verdict, and must presume that the jury has
properly carried out its functions of evaluating the credipility
of witne ises, finding the facts, and drawing justifiable
inferenc :s.” United States v. Canpbell, 702 r.2d 262, 264 (D.C.

Gr. 19¢ ),




A Nar coti CS conspiracvy

The. defendant argues that the evidence at trial was
insufficient to convict himfor conspiracy to possess with intent
to distribute cocaine, crack, PCP, and narijuana between 1993 and
2003. (pef.”s Am Mt. at 8.) Specifically, the defendant
contends| that (1) the government presented no evidence of |a
Conspira%y to distribute PCP between 1993 and 2003, and (2) the
evidence! did not suggest any drug activity between the defendant
and the witnesses from1993 to 1998.  (Id. at 8-9.)

1 Conspiracy to distribute PCP

To establish a conspiracy in violation of § 846, the

|
governme?t must show an agreenent or nutual understandi ng between
at least two people to violate narcotics laws, and knowing and

intentiopal participation in the conspiracy. See United States

V. Hinesy 398 ¥.3d 713, 718 (6th Cr. 2005), cert. denied sl

nom. Edmgrds v. United States, 125 S. C. 2592 (2005).

The:government's evidence was that Thomas Davis used Pinky's
Fourth s¢reet apartnent to store and sell crack cocaine. [Thomas
Davi s in%roduced the defendant to Pinky, and Pinky allowe|| the
defendan#-to store his PCP in her apartnment and sell PCP t
ot hers f%om her apartnent in-exchange for PCP. \Wen viewed in

the lighT nmost favorable to the verdict, this evidence al ane was

sufficieTt for a jury to conclude that the defendant was involved

in an on&oing conspiracy to distribute PCP
|
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2. Evi dence of a conspiracy between 1993 and $998
The, government i S not required to prove, that a conspiracy

began and ended on the exact, dates mentioned in the indictnent.
|

United States v. Cueen, 132 F.3d 991, 999 (4th Cir. 1997);: United
St at es vk Hei mann, 705 F.24 662, 666 (2d Gr. 1983)
(“Partichlarly with respect to allegations of tine, [the ‘ourt

has] permitted proof to vary from the indictnent provided that

the prootf fell within the period charged."); United Statest v.

Postma, 242 F.2d 488, 497 (2d Gr. 1957) (finding that even

t hough the proof at trial showed a conspiracy starting on%y in

1952 when the indictnment alleged that it began in 1951, "it does

not follow that there was a fatal variance [ because] the

conspiracy proved fell within the period charged"); see also

D.N.Y.

Uni t ed Syates v. Val encia, 226 F. Supp. 2d 503, 508n.3 [

2002) (“#A}ll the Government need do is prove that the conspiracy
fell wit%in the period charged.”). “[Tlhe trier of fact ]ay find
t hat theﬁstarting date of a conspiracy begins anytime in the tine
wi ndow ailegedso long as the tine frane alleged places the
def endant sufficiently on notice of the acts with which he/is
char ged. Queen, 132 F.3d at 999 (holding that "the specificity
of the indictrment's allegations" sufficiently put the defendant

on notice of the charged crime and "the date of the conspijracy

was not T substantive elenent of the crinme of censpiracy”)|.

Because ﬁhe i ndi ct ment charged a conspiracy between 1993 and 2003
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(Def." s Am. Mot. at 9), and since the government needed to

only that the conspiracy occurred within the time w ndow Al

prove

| eged,

a lack of evidence of a narcotics conspiracy between 1993 |and

1998 is hot a ground for judgnent of acquittal. EHeimann, 705

F.2d at €66.

In any event, the government's evidence showed that the

defendan? sold marijuana from 1993 to 1996 with James ravi
Keith Harrison. Covernment witnesses also revealed that ¢
this timé, the defendant conspired with Thonas Davis to se
drugs, sold Thomas Davis cocaine, and sold either marijuan
crack cogaine With Janes Davis. The governnment did produc
evi dence|that a conspiracy existed during the time frane a

B. Nar coti cs and gun convictions

s and
uring
11

a or

lleged.

The|def endant argues that the evidence was insufficiegnt to

convict nimof Counts Two through Four and Count Six alleg

possessiTn of marijuana; possession with intent to distrib
PC?; usi$g, carrying, and possessing a firearmduring a d
trafficking offense; and unlawful distribution of cocaine,
respectively. (See Def.'s Am Mt. at 9.) Specifically,
contends [that the court should reverse its prior denial of
motion t¢ suppress, and that suppression of the evidence w

warrant a judgment of acguittal On those counts. He bases

request for reversal on clainmed differences between Fulmer

ing
ﬁte

ug

he
his

oul d
hi s

s

testimony at the suppression hearing and his testinony at krial,
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and between Fulmer's and Lockhart's testinony at trial.®

at 9.) The defendant cites no authority for the propositi

a post-conviction judgment of acquittal would be the prope

remedy should a court reconsider the denial of a notion tc¢

suppressl evidence. The defendant's argunent appears to be

properly!the subj ect of either a notion for reconsideraticin

the motion to suppress or of a notion for a newtrial. g

Id.

(Id.

on t hat

United States v. Broonfield, 201 F.3d 1270, 1273 (10th ci:

1
(affirmi%g the district court's order that denied defendar

not i on t# suppress seized evidence, and denying defendant

request ﬁor a newtrial wthout the seized evidence); Rous

United states, 359 r.2d 1014, 1016 (D.C. Gr.

for fres@ determ nation of the suppression notion and st at

that a new trial would be ordered if suppression was grant

But see #nited States vy, Jennings, 235 F. Supp. 551, 552-E

(D.D.C i964) (denying the defendant's notion for judgnenit of

1966) (remariding
ing

led),

|

o~

acquitta% based on illegally seized evidence because the court

f ound th%t the Comm ssioner had a substantial basis for i:s

sear ch w%rrant).
A pé&trial
Ci rcunmst ances. Rouse v. United States

trial judge in all

suing a

ruling on a notion to suppress does not bind the

359

¢ Counts Two, Three,

and Four stenmmed from the traffic stop

of the defendant by Fulmer and Lockhart on Decenber 17, 2001.
The defendant does not present any basis for suppressing the

evidence'related to the cocaine distribution on Novenber 2
charged in Count Six.

22, 2002



- 13 -

F.2d 1014, 1015-16 (p.c. Cir. 1966). \Wen new facts shed

light on the credibility of government w tnesses and reaso

doubt is cast on the pre-trial decision, it then becones t

of the trial judge to reconsider the issue of suppression
Id8. at 1016.

novo. Where maj or inconsistencies in the pc

testimony surface both at the suppression hearing and at t

t he tria# court should conduct a "fresh deternination of t

Id.; see Jackson v. United States, 3

r

1965)

suppress:%_on i ssue. "

862, 867, (D.C. Gr. (hol ding that where an officer’

testimony 1s internally contradictory and is "contrary to
I

human exﬁerience," that officer's testinony can be discred

and the suppression decision reversed).

In Rouse, the suppression hearing testinony of two pg

officers |who arrested the defendant was inconsistent. 3 9

at 1015.2 The police officers disagreed as to who was drivij

police cﬁuiser when the defendant was found, how far

away
defendan& was when they spotted him (one stated that he wa
a short distance" away fromR street, while the other stat
t he defe?dant was not anywhere near R street), and in whic
directio? the officers followed the defendant. Id. The j

deni ed the notion to suppress, but

expressed concern regar
the numerous inconsistencies that he stated were not sligh
immuaterial, and reserved the appellant's right to renew th
not i on aF trial. 1zd. At trial,

D

new
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he duty
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testinony significantly to correspond al nmost identically with the

ot her off

question%d about the inconsistencies between his testimony

\
Suppress

confused

case.

ion hearing and at trial,

Id.

icer's testinony. iSeed . Wen the officer was

the officer stated that
the facts of the defendant's case with those in z

When t he defendant noved again for the materia

at the
he had

nother

1 to be

suppressed, the trial judge credited the suppression judge’s

deci si on
the D.cC.
inconsist
rai sed ns
determina
the case
stating t
ordered)

Wher
district
position
denmeanor
609, 614
i nconsi st

St at es

v Frver,

and denied the notion to reconsider. Id.
Circuit found that the officer's explanation for

ency IN his testinmony "stirred previous doubts an

=w ones" and "reasonably required inquiry and a f

stion Of the suppression issue."™ Id. at 1016 (r
for fresh determ nation of the suppression issue,
ﬁhat i f suppression was granted, a new trial would
Id. at 1016.

~e testinmonial inconsistencies are mnor,, however,'

court has discretion to suppress based on its "un
to gauge [the witness's] credibility" when observ
of the w tness. 401

(5th Gir. 2005).

United States v. Val entine,

Testimony is not always suspici

ent when the differences are insignificant. see

974 F.2d 813, 818 (7th Gr. 1992)

(findin

On app

J

eal,
t he
d
esh
anding
and

be

t he
que

ng the
. 3d
ously

United
g that

the officer’s testinony was not significantly inconsistent] when

he first

testified that he stopped the defendant for turni

ng



- 15 -

right at an intersection where that is not allowed, and

ter

that he stopped the defendant for turning right without first

stoppi ng) .
Here, Fulmer's trial testinony is not significantly
b

inconsistent with his testinony at the suppressi on hearing.

At

the suppression hearing, Fulnmer testified that the defend,ant did

not come to a full stop at the stop sign. (Mot. Tr. at 3g9.

) At

trial, although Fulner stated that the defendant stopped cefore

maki ng the U-turn, he qualified that statement by explainw

he refersto a "rolling stop" as a stop, but that the defe

did not come to a full stop. (Trial Tr. 10/21/c4 a.m at

n g that
ndant

117.)

Ful mer never testified at either the trial or the suppression

heari ng “hat t he defendant cane to a conplete stop at the

si gn. Tﬁis i nconsi stency was only a mnor one. Seée: 1

stop

tine,

401 rF.3d at 61P; Frver, 974 F.2d at 818-19; cf. Rouse, 353
at 101findi?g mul tiple inconsistencies between the two
officers/ testinonies at the suppression hearing, as well

bet ween e suppression hearing and trial).

F.2d
police

as

The |defendant al so al l eges that Lockhart's testinony fwas

inconsistent Wth Fulner's testinony because at trial, Loc

testified that the decision to stop the defendant was nmade

the defendant failed to stop at a stop sign, made an illeg

turn, aﬁ% al nost collided with their unmarked police vehi ¢

(Trial T%. 10/18/04 a.m at 49.) Both Lockhart and Fulmer
|

|

khart

after

pl U~
ﬂe.
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justified pulling over the defendant's vehicle based in part on
the defendant's failure to stop at a stop sign. (Id.)
Lockhart’s rendition of events would not have changed the court's
pretrial' disposition Of the suppression nmotion. Thus, no
reconsi deration of the notion to suppress is warranted.

c. | Governnent's use of acguitted conduct

|
Finally, the defendant seeks reversal of the denial ¢f the

defendan#'s nmotion in limine regarding the defendant's acquitted
|

conduct., (Def. s Am Mot. at 14.) The defendant appears to be

argui ng that although the court admtted as being intrinsic to

the crimés charged here evidence of the nurder of which defendant

| .
was acquitted, its adm ssion "substantially prejudice[d] the
defendant in the eyes of the jury." (Id.) The defendant al so
clainms that the government is nowtrying to justify adm ssion of

this evidence under Federal Rule of Evidence 404 (b}5, which woul d

have required giving the jury a cautionary instruction about the

limted role that this evidence should play.® (Def.'s Am.
\

5 ﬁule 404(b) states in part that “[elvidence Of other
crimes . . . is not admssible to prove the character of a person
in order to show action in conformty therewth. It may
however, |be admi ssible for other [proper] purposes[.]” Fed. R
Evi d. 404kb).

|

*Thehdefiendant' s argunent that the government has “changed
I tS position®s unpersuasive. (Def. 's Am Suppl enental argunent
at 2.), hé governnent's opposition does not reflect a change in
position] The governnent argues that the nurder evidence Mwas
direct evidence of allegations contained in the indictment,”
where "Rufe 404(b) does not apply." (Gov.’s Conbi ned cpp’h
at 11.y A though the government |ater states that proof of
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Suppl emental Argunent at |-2.) Although it is unclear fro

post-trial briefs, it seems that the defendant is also arg

that no evidence indicates that the alleged conspiracy and

murder were related.' (Def.’”s Am Mt. at 2.)

Where the governnment offers evidence of an incident

part of the conspiracy alleged in the indictnment, it is no

“other crime” which woul d be subject to Rule 404 (b) and re

ry jury instruction. United States v.

cautional Badr u,

1471, 1474 (D.C. Cir. 1996); United States v. Gav, 292 F.

2d 71, 79 (D.D.C. 2003). Rather, “[tlhe evidence is offeq

direct eyvidence of the fact INn issue, not as circunstantia

evidence requiring an inference as to the character of the

l

Fed. Pra

accused. Badru, 97 F.3d at 1475 (citing 22 Wight & Grah

tice and Procedure § 5329 at 450 (1978)). Eviden

intrinsic to the crine charged in the indictrment if "it is

motive, intent, identity, plan and ab e
completely proper under Rule 404 (b)” .}, this is not an
indication that the government is now justifying the admisg
this evidence through Rule 4C4.(b}). Instead, the governmen
merely articulating that if an act is part of the crime ch
“evidence of it will, by definition, always satisfy Rule 4
United States v, Alexander, 331 F.3d 116, 126 n.13
2003); sée also United States v. Bow e, é32 F.3d 923,
cir. 2000).

senc
(id

5

927

" The defendant avers that “at no time during the mu

97 .

of m stake “are

(D.C. Cd

m hi s
ui ng

t he

hat is
t an
Jguire
3d

Supp.
ed as

am,
ce 1S

an
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sion of
t is
arged,
04 {b)."”
ir.
{D.C.

rder

trial of |Jack Davis did the government indicate that Jack

Davis

shot David Scott because he robbed Jack or James Davis of hls

drug money.
trial that Jack and James Davis were drug dealers
conspiragy to sell drugs.” (Id. at 2.)

Nor was 1t ever indicated during the muqder

or in a
!
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unchar ged of fense which arose out of the sane transaction
series of transactions as the charged offense [or] if it
inextricably intertwined with the evidence regarding the ¢
| d.
830, 832 (11th Gir. 1983)).

f

conspirator.

of fense. :’ at 1474 (quoting United States v. \Weks, 73

Her' W tnesses testified that the defendant shot anc

Head in 1996 because Head robbed the defendant's brother

Count One of the indictnent in this case all
that the|defendant commtted acts of violence and nurder i
furtherance of the 1993 to 2003 narcotics conspiracy charc
inrretalfation for violence commtted against menbers of t
conspira¢y. As such, the defendant's alleged nurder of He
part of Ihe crime charged and was fairly subject to proof.
intrinsi# evi dence was not governed by Rule 404(b) and its
probative val ue was not substantially outwei ghed by the de
pfejudice.

unfair The ruling on the notion in limne wll

reversed| and the defendant's notion for a judgment of acc

will be denied.

1. MOTI ON FOR A NEW TRI AL

| f i notion for a newtrial is timely filed, it is wi

the trial court's sound discretion to determ ne whether a

trial is|warranted. United States v. Walker, 899 F. Supp
(D.D.C. 1995). A court may "grant a newtrial if the inte
justice so requires.” Fed. R CGim P. 33(a); Ln re Unitt

is
narged

F.2d

killed
1 co-

zged

=d and
1e
id was

Thi s

1ger of
not be

1ittal

-hin
new
14, 15
rest of

d
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states, 598 r.2d 233, 236 (D.C. Gr. 1979). For a verdict

set aside, the noving party nmust show that an error has, od

that the'error "was substantial, not harnless, and that It

affected! the defendant's substantial rights.” \Walker, 899

Supp. at |15 (internal quotation nmarks omtted).

The | def endant argues that the court should grant a ne

based on|an alleged Jencks violation by the government. [

claims that the governnent violated the Jencks Act when it

to produ?e Hlls's witten statenent describing the defend

attenpt to retrieve his belongings at the FBI.

6.)
The

at

Jencks Act provides that in crimnal prosecutions

brought by the United States, no statenent or report in th

possessien Of the United States that was made by a governm

Wi t ness 1s available to the defense until after the witnes
|

testified on direct examnation in the trial. 18 U.s.cC.

§ 3500(a). After such a witness testifies, the defendant

demand that the government produce the statement for the de

18 U.s.C. § 3500(b). Wen the government "elects" not to

the requested material, the court "shall strike fromthe r

the testinmony of the witness, and the trial shall proceed

the court inits discretion shall determne that the inter

justice require that a mstrial be declared.”

s 3500(d)|.

18 U S C

Jowever, the "Jencks Act

(Def.’s Amn.

to be
curred,
e error

F.

w trial
avi s
failed
ant's

Mot .

‘ent

s has

may

of ense.
provi de
ecord
unl ess

ests of

Is not a mandate conpelling
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t he tria% judge to strike (or bar) a witness' testinony when a
| |
previousfy nade statenment, irrespective of the reason, cadnot be

produced|by the Governnent." United States v. Perry, 471 r.2d

1057,1063(D.C. Gir. 1972). The Jencks Act merely requi zes the
trial ju?ge to ensure that the "defendant has access to previcus

statements Oof a witness to the fullest extent possible . .| . to

further the interests of justice in the search for “truth.’ 1d.
The Act on its own does not reflect any constitutio|a

requirement, United States wv. Augenblick, 393 U S. =48, 3 6

(1969), and sanctions under the Act are not autonatic

United States v. Rippy, 606 F.2d 1150, 1154 (p.c. Gr.

GEnéraIIy, t he Jencks Act suggests striking testinony when
t he previous statement by the witness was "l ost or destroyed,
negligently or for an unjustified purpose.”" Perrv, 471 r.2d
at 1063.| When assessi ng whet her testinony shoul d have been
stricken lat trial, "the trial court is required to 'weigh the
degree of negligence or bad faith involved, the inportance| of the

evi dence | ost, and the evidence of guilt adduced at trial,| in

order to|cone to a determnation that will serve the ends of

justice.| “ Rippy, 606 F.2d at 1154 (citing United States v.

Br vant 39 F.2a 642, 653 (D.c. Gr. 1971)). Wen there iis no

showi ng 3hat the governnent acted in bad faith in its failure to

produce ?equested Jencks material, sanctions are not necessary.

Perrv, 47['1 F.2d at 1059- 60. |
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For exanple, in Perrv, the governnent provided all Jencks

Act material to the defense counsel except for the grand fury

testinony fromone witness. Id. at 1059. The stenograplai

of the witness’s testinony had been lost in the stenograph

office, and the government was unable to produce a transcr

the witness's testinmony. |d. at 1060, 1063. The court

interpreted both the words and the intent of the Jencks st

to hold that because there had "been no showi ng that the

I

grand juiy testimony[,]. .

Government ha[d] done . any act which ha[d] resulted i

inability to conply with an order of the court to produce:
there [was]. no basis y
the statute for the application of the sanctions therein

prescribed.” Id. at 1063-64.

Here, Hills testified that he gave to an agent he cou
identify|by name a statenent Hlls had handwitten detaili
events cbncerning the defendant's visit to the FBlI's off:tc
the bench conference after Hlls mentioned the statenent,t
| awyers for both sides said they were unaware that this wr

st at ement| exi st ed.

whet her

The governnment promsed to inquire as

a statenment did exist, and if it did,

[

Hlls would be nade available for further cross-examnati_o

However, the governnment asserts that when it questioned it

|

to ensure th:

c hotes
er’s

ipt of
atute

nits
' he

nder

1d not

ng the
e. At
e

itten

to

at

|

1

8

agents about this purported statenent,

remembeer receiving a statenent from Hlls. (Gov.'s Am.

none of the agent:; |
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Conbined Opp'n to Def. 's Omibus Mt. (“Gov.’s Am Opp’n”) at 9.)

The governnent asserts that it conveyed this information to the

defendanf, id., which the defendant denies.

at 7.)
The
of gover‘

St at es.

i

(Def. 's Am

Jencks Act pertains to docunments containing stat
ment W tnesses that are in the possession of the

Here, the government claimed that the prosecutors,

their agents never received a witten statenent fromHIls

t he defendant did not

Mor eover |
trial or

1 d.;

see

raise any further objectio
move to have Hlls's testinony stricken fromthe

United States v. McKenzie, 768 F.2d 602, 607-08 (

Gr

their red
request ec
abandone g
claimtha
di sposit j
no ot her

the tine

Ever

not an ay
1499, 15¢
regarding

[ Jencks]

198 5

re

)

juest for the alleged Jencks nateri al

(hol ding that because the defendants did not
after having

i it prior to the trial, the defendants effective

i any claimto the material). A though the govern

it it does not have HIls's previous statenment is

ve, MKenzie. 768 F.2d at 607, the defense has pr

evi dence suggesting that the government did, in f

of the trial possess a statenent to produce.

| assum ng a Jencks violation occurred, a newtria

i See United States v. Thomms, 97

tomatic remedy.
2 (D.C. Gr. 1996) (stating that "there is no fix
; what nmust be done if the governnent violates the

Act”). Instead,

esp.

ments

Uni t ed
and

n at

record.

5t h

new

y
ment's
not

of fered
act, at
| is

F.3d

ed rule

“[t]lhe admnistration of the Jericks Act
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is 'within the good sense and experience of the district g

subject to the appropriately limted review by appel
360 U S.

courts.'? 1Id. (quoting Palernmpb v. United States,

353 (1959) ).

Here, no evidence suggests that the governnent willfJ

dest r oyec

actual Iy possessed one at the tinme of trial and negligentl

displaced it or failed to produce it. The governnent

appe
a good faith effort to conply with the defendant

17

have nads

request by searching for the statenent.

The|def endant has not shown that not having any prior

] any statement Hlls wote, or that the government

udge
late

343,

y

ars to

’'s

statement witten by Hlls summarizing the defendant’s comments

about the gun and the U-turn was of any nonent. The gover

justified the traffic stop based upon agents' observations

offered no testinmony that the defendant admitted to an ill
turnn  T'e court's pretrial finding that the traffic stop
| awfeil w uld have been unaffected by any Jencks nateri al
Hill oreover, Hlls told the jury that the defendant
aske fOT a gun back and had not clained that the agents h
confisca'ed one. This testinony hel ped distance the defen

froma k ow ng possession of the gun seized. Hlls gave n

testimon about a gun seizure or U-turn unfavorable to the
defendanﬂ that was fit to inpeach

statement might have hel ped discredit aspects of Fulmer's

nment
it

egal U-

was

or

ad not

ad

dant

0

Production of any prior

report
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of his interview of Hlls, but that report was not evidenc :

subj ect to i npeachment anyway. The defendant has not este
t hat pro@uction of the statenent woul d have been of anyt hi
other than tangential inportance, particularly in the face
substantial evidence of the defendant's guilt presented at
trial through the testinmony of nultiple cooperating witnes
| aw enfofcenent officers. Thus, a newtrial is not warrar
I11. MOTI ON TO | NTERVI EW THE JURCRS

The | def endant asks for permission to interview the 3t

or for the court to nmake its own inquiry, to "discern whet

jurors relied on out-of-court sources to determ ne the nea
certain ﬁerms that it requested clarification on, but nore
importantly, whether the jury found all of the elements or

t he counﬁs before finding the defendant guilty of those cc

(Def.’s = . Mt. at 11.)

A ndi L el Fall

The defendant argues that when the jury sent a note
question ng whether it had to find all elenents to convict
defendan,| of Count Five, the court should have answered th
finding jll el enents on all counts was necessary. Because

court did not do so, the defendant clains that the jury m

with jurors after a verdict has been rendered "except wher
permtte
24.2(b).

8 Ercal Crimnal Rule 24.2 prohibits parties fromsg

by the court for good cause shown in witing."

and
11ished
9

of the
t he

es and

ed.

ors,®
.er the

ing of

alli of

nts.

t he
t
t he

st have

aking

LCrR
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concluded that with regard to Counts One through Four and six

that it das not necessary to find all of the elenents in g

convict.
i nterviey
the jury

Whe

subj ect t

(See Def.'s Am Mt. at 12-13.) The defendant a

v the jurors to determ ne whether that is, in fact
concluded during their deliberations. (Id.)
ther the jury followed the court's instructions i

0 inquiry by the defendant. Upited States v. Log

F.3d 350
“obligati
it

verdict |

jury's deliberative process to determine if in fact the co

instructi
598 F.2d

St at es,

adjudicat
they actg
[an

unguesitic

jury - -

instructions, a conprom se verdict,

do not entitle a convicted defendant to question the juror

380 (6th Gr. 2001). Although a jury has a cert
on to follow the law as it is given by the trial
is a peculiar facet of the jury institution that
s rendered,

no judicial inquiry is permtted intg

ons were properly followed. "

[l -

rder to

sks to

, what

58 not
250
ain
court,
once a
the
urt's

Angelo,

Uni ted States‘v. D

1002, 1004 (5th Gr. 1979); see also Sparf v. Uni

t ed

156 U.S. 51, 80 (1895) ("The law authorized [the ju

e definitively on the evidence; the |aw presunes

=d upon correct rules of |law given themby the ju

1d] [t]lhe verdict therefore stands concl usive and

nable.”). Allegations of ""inside' influences on

such as pressure anong jurors, msunderstanding @

or a self-inposed tine

ryl] to
t hat

je

t he

-

limt

S Or

trigger ?-hearing requiring jurors to testify about their

verdi ct.

United States v. Edelin, 283 F. Supp. 2d 8, 13

\
(D.D.C.
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2003) (citing Logan, 250 F.3d at 381). Federal Rule of Evidence
606 (b)° even bars a juror fromtestifying on nost matters
relating;tc deliberations and the verdict, Fed. R Evid. ¢06(h);
Edel i n, ?83 F. Supp. 2d at 13, to prevent the harassment df
jurors bY the defeated party and to ensure that what is intended
to be a brivate del i beration can remain out of public scrutiny.
See McDonald v. Pless, 238 U S. 264, 267-68 (1915).
While the |law does not sanction the inquiry sought, ghe
facts heLe do not warrant one either. The court instructed the
jury mul%iple times in the final instructions regarding the

necessity of finding all elenents of a count before convi ting

the defendant of that count. (See, e.qg., Trial Tr. 10/25/04 p.m

at 8, 19+22, 30-33, 35-36.) The defendant did not object |[to the

jury instructions when read to the jury in court. (Trial |Tr.

10/25/04 p.m at 39.) In fact, the defense "thought the oourt

was very|clear when it instructed the jury that the governpent

had the burden of proving each el enent of each count." (Trial

° pederal Rule of Evidence 606(b) states in relevant |part:

Upon an inquiry into the validity of a verdict or

indictnent, a juror may not testify as to any matter |or
sta#ement occurring during the course of the jury's
defi'berations . . . except that a juror may testify on
the question whet her extraneous prejudicial informatijon
was inproperly brought to the jury's attention or
whether any outside influence was inproperly brought to

bear upon any juror.

Fed. R Evid. 606(b).
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Tr. 11/1/04 p.m at 8.) Thus, there is no basis in |aw or

fact

to interviewthe jurors as to whether they found all el enments of

all counts.

B. ran r

The|defendant argues t hat because the court instructe
deliberating jurors to rely upon their own nenories of the
evidenceiwhen they asked to be told what the weights were
certain street terns for drug quantities, "it would have b
inpossib}e for the jury to have defined the terns for them
wi t hout #elying on out-of-court sources." (Def. s Am Mbt.
at 12.) The defendant asks to interview the jurors to det
whet her %hey did, in fact, rely on outside sources to defi
wei ght s $f the drugs. (1d.)

VheTe a defendant seeks a post-conviction jury inquir)
there should be “reasonable grounds for investigation." U

|
States vl Moon, 718 F.2d 1210, 1234 (2d Gir. 1983). Reaso

d the

of
een

sel ves

erm ne

ne the

Y
hi t ed

nable

i ncontro

grounds IXiSt "when there is clear, strong, substantial and

ertible evidence that a specific, nonspecul ative

i npropriety has occurred which could have prejudiced the t

a defendant." 1d. (internal citations onitted); United St

rial of

ates v.

Connelly, 341 F.3d 16, 34 (1st Gir. 2003) (finding that th

defendant did not meet the "high standard" to show that an

impropriety occurred where,' after the trial ended, a newsp

reportedkthat sone jurors took notes at night despite the

e

Fper

j udge' s




- 28 -

request that they refrain fromtaking notes at trial); United

States v. Rigsby, 45 F.3d 120, 124-25 (6th Grr.

that a cq

D

|
1995)

urt investigation is appropriate when there is a

(stLting

“credible allegation of extraneous influences" but not wh n the

def ense counsel alleges juror bias for the first tine aft r trial

when t he

i nf or mat

As =

instructi

def ense ¢

the jury
at 15, 1
presents

prejudic

A

T

- initial

on.

no evidence,

juror knew some of the w tnesses and had divul ged
on in court to no objection fromthe parties).

matter, the defendant did not object to

(Trial Tr. 10/28/04 a.m at 5.) Indeed, bot

and the prosecution agreed with giving the respons

s question that was given. (Trial Tr. 10/27/04 a

.} In any event, the defendant only specul ates,

that the jury brought in extraneous

al information to define the drug weights. Specu

cannot t#igger a jury inquiry.

Furt

definitiq

hermore, although the court did not provide the

ns of the weights for the jury,

testified regarding the drug amounts and the ternms used to

describe

differend

at 62.)

and-one-half grans of cocaine (Trial
and that a “62" is two-and-one-half ounces of cocaine powd

(Trial TT- 10/7/04 a.m at 143.)

L

their weights. Conner testified regarding the
e between an ounce and a "31." (Trial Tr. 10/6/0
Henderson testified that an "eight ball" equals t

Tr. 10/7/04 a.m at 1

this

t he

h t he

mul tiple wtnesses

eto

but

| ation

4 p.m
hree-
387},

er.

|

Hender son al so detail ed various
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other drug transactions nade by the defendant and the

correspondi ng wei gh-ts of the drugs. (Trial Tr. 10/7/C4 p.

at 23-26, 30-35, 40, 45-48.) Harrison testified that a “3

thirtywoﬁe granms of crack cocaine, and that it can be spli

ni ne eig#t bal | s. (Trial Tr. 10/13/04 a.m at 89-90.) EHa

al so des#ribed how nuch he generally bought fromthe defen

and Janed Davis. (Trial Tr. 10/13/C4 a.m at 101-04.) R

testifie@ that an eighth of a kilogram equals four-and-ond

ounces. (Trial Tr. 10/19/04 a.m at 46.) Thomas Davis

reiterated that a "31" is 31 grams, and that it

“62."™ (Trial Tr. 10/19/04 p.m at 95.) R chardson testif

that there are 125 grams of cocaine powder in an eighth o:§

kil ogram, fourteen grams in a half-ounce of crack cocaine,

and- one- hals granms of crack cocaine in an eight ball, and

grans of |cocaine powder in a quarter-kilogram (Trial

10/20/04|p.m. at 83-90.) R chardson also testified as to

difference between a “31" and an ounce. (Trial Tr. 1Cc/21

at 22.) |

The|testimony of these witnesses was sufficient for %

to determine drug weights. The jury needed no out-of-cou:r

sources to do so. The defendant's request for perm ssion

interview the jurors, or for the court to conduct its own

inquiry, (wll be denied.
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CONCLUSI ON_ AND ORDER

Theevidence, viewed in the |light nost favorable to
governme?t, permtted a reasonable jury to find the essen
el enents/of a conspiracy to distribute PCP, and the gover
was not required to establish that the charged conspiracy
during the exact dates nentioned in the indictrment. Ther
significant inconsistency in the FBI agents' testinmony w
regard to the defendant's traffic stop which woul d warran
reversal (of the court's denial of the defendant's pre-tri

notion to suppress. The government properly introduced t

def endant's acquitted conduct as evidence of conduct intr
the conspiracy. No willful or negligent Jencks violation
warranti$g post-trial relief has been shown. The parties
inquire into the jurors' deliberative process, and the de
has not shown good cause or a reasonable basis for inquir
about possible extraneous influences on the jury's delibe
Therefork, it is hereby
ORDERED that the defendant's notion for judgnent of

acquittal, for a newtrial, and for a court order permitt
defendant to interview jurors [#243] be, and hereby is, D
It is further

ORDERED that the defendant’s motion for a ruling [#2

and hereby is, GRANTED. It is further

3

al

ant
zisted

7as No

sicto

ay not

adant

tions.

y the

[ED.

1 be,
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ORDERED t hat the defendant's sentencing be, and hereby i,

schedule:ﬁ for January 4, 2006, at 2:30 p.m
S| @TL:ED this 3™ gay of MOV

RI CHARD W ROBERTS
United States District Judge




